FILED

FILED

JUL 07 2016

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

JUN 28 2016

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

COA No. 33062-I-III

80#93337.5

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL F. CRONIN,

Appellant

٧.

CENTRAL VALLEY SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondent

CENTRAL VALLEY SCHOOL DISTRICT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

BURI FUNSTON MUMFORD, PLLC

By PHILIP J. BURI WSBA #17637 1601 F Street Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 752-1500

ORIGINAL

INTRODUCTION

This case presents questions of first impression on agency law, the right to statutory hearings under RCW 28A.405.210 and .300, and the choice of remedies under a collective bargaining agreement. On January 5, 2012, Central Valley School District notified Michael Cronin, a certificated teacher, that it was terminating his employment and non-renewing his contract. Mr. Cronin disputed the decision.

Under the Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA) between the District and his Union, Mr. Cronin had to choose between challenging the decision in a statutory hearing under RCW 28A.405.210 and 300, or filing a grievance under the contract. He tried to do both. Because he was in jail when he received notice, Mr. Cronin got word to his union representative, Sally McNair, to protest his termination. She in turn notified the District that Mr. Cronin chose a statutory hearing and a grievance. "We anticipate notifying the District on or before February 10, 2012 as to Mr. Cronin's decision to pursue either the statutory hearing or the grievance." (1/11/12 McNair Letter; CP 93).

Twice the Spokane County Superior Court has held that Mr.

Cronin failed to qualify for a statutory hearing, and twice the Court of

Appeals has reversed. The District now respectfully requests the Supreme Court to prescribe what a certificated teacher must do to challenge a school district's notice of discharge and non-renewal.

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Respondent Central Valley School District asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review designated in Part II of this Petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The District seeks review of the April 14, 2016 decision from the Court of Appeals, Division III, reversing the Spokane County Superior Court and remanding for further proceedings. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 to A-32.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The District's Petition raises five issues for review:

A. An agent may contract for a principal only if the third party accepts the agent's authority. Restatement of Agency (Third) § 6.01. Here, the District questioned Sally McNair's attempt to satisfy teacher Michael Cronin's responsibilities under the relevant Washington statutes and the District's CBA. Did the Court of Appeals err by requiring the District to accept an agent's hearing

request, regardless of the agent's expressed uncertainty about her authority to make it?

- B. Under RCW 28A.405.210 and .300, only an "employee" may request a hearing to determine whether there was sufficient cause for termination or non-renewal of a teaching contract. Mr. Cronin delegated his responsibility for filing a written request to his union representative, Ms. McNair. Do the hearing statutes for non-renewal (RCW 28A.405.210) and discharge (RCW 28A.405.300) permit this delegation?
- C. An agent may not "surrender a substantial right of a client without special authority granted by the client." Russell v. Maas, 166 Wn. App. 885, 890, 272 P.3d 273 (2012). Ms. McNair admitted in her January 11th letter that she did not possess special authority from Mr. Cronin to surrender either the statutory hearing or grievance procedure. (1/11/12 McNair Letter; CP 93). Did the Court of Appeals err by holding that Ms. McNair had special authority to surrender a substantial right? Cronin v. Central Valley School District, No. 33062-1-III slip op. at 25 (April 14, 2016) (Appendix A-25).
- D. "In cases of nonrenewal, discharge, or actions which adversely affect the employee's contract status, the employee shall

select the statutory procedures or the grievance procedure." (CBA at 12; CP 5). Through his union representative, Mr. Cronin initially opted for both, admitting "it is clear the contract requires an election of remedies." (1/11/12 McNair Letter; CP 93). Did the Court of Appeals err by "discern[ing] no reason why Sally McNair could not demand both processes until a later date." Cronin, slip op. at 23 (Appendix A-23).

E. A terminated teacher must opt for a statutory hearing by submitting a written request within ten days of receiving notice of discharge or non-renewal. RCW 28A.405.210 (non-renewal); RCW 28A.405.300 (discharge). Mr. Cronin, through his representative, did not commit to pursuing a statutory hearing until February 8, 2012, 33 days after receiving notice. Was his choice of the statutory hearing untimely?

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. <u>The District Terminated Mr. Cronin For Sufficient</u> Cause

Michael Cronin was a high school teacher for seven years with the Central Valley School District. (11/14/14 Cronin Dec. ¶ 2; CP 31). During his tenure, Mr. Cronin struggled with alcoholism, and on August 1, 2010, he was arrested for having physical control of a

vehicle while intoxicated. (11/14/14 Cronin Dec. ¶3; CP 31-32). He pled guilty and served 80 days in the Geiger Correctional Facility in Airway Heights, Washington. (11/14/14 Cronin Dec. ¶11; CP 33). Before entering Geiger, he completed residential alcohol treatment in Selah, Washington. (11/14/14 Cronin Dec. ¶ 10; CP 33).

The District received numerous complaints regarding Mr. Cronin's behavior, and on August 29, 2011, placed him on paid administrative leave. While on leave, Mr. Cronin did not teach, but continued to receive pay and benefits.

In November and December 2011, Jay Rowell, Assistant Superintendent, met with Mr. Cronin and his union representative to discuss his continued teaching. The District ultimately determined it had just and sufficient cause to discharge Mr. Cronin and to non-renew his contract. To avoid delivering this news during the holidays, Assistant Superintendent Rowell received approval to notify Mr. Cronin in January 2012. (12/1/14 Rowell Dec. ¶ 3, CP 213-14).

On January 5, 2012, the District sent Mr. Cronin notice of his termination. (1/5/12 Notice of Probable Cause; CP 40-41) (11/14/14 Cronin Dec. ¶15; CP 34). The Notice described six grounds for discharge:

- 1. You have conducted yourself in a manner unbecoming of a teacher employed by Central Valley School District:
- 2. You have engaged in a pattern of misconduct that includes several alcohol or substance abuse related incidents (at least one of which resulted in your incarceration and others which resulted in your inappropriate and exploitive conduct towards students and others);
- 3. Your pattern of behavior and notoriety of your behavior reflects negatively on your ability to perform your job and has a substantial negative impact on your ability to do your job;
- 4. You have not been available for work and failed to notify the District of that fact;
- 5. You continue to be unavailable for work;
- 6. You have not been forthcoming with the District regarding behavior that is job-related and that substantially negatively impacts your ability to do your job.

(1/5/12 Notice of Probable Cause; CP 40-41).

The Notice indicated the District found probable cause to discharge Mr. Cronin from employment and to non-renew his contract. <u>Id</u>. Included with the notice were copies of the statutes explaining Mr. Cronin's right to due process and a hearing, and the appeal procedures necessary to appeal the District's decision. <u>Id</u>.

B. Mr. Cronin Failed To Timely Select His Remedy

Mr. Cronin had two means to challenge the District's decision:

(1) request in writing a statutory hearing procedure or (2) file a grievance under the CBA. He could not pursue both. Under Section E of the CBA, titled "Right to Due Process,"

in cases of nonrenewal, discharge, or actions which adversely affect the employee's contract status, the employee shall select the statutory procedures or the grievance procedure. In the event the employee serves notice to the Board that he/she is appealing the Board's decision according to the statutory provisions, such cases shall be specifically exempted from the grievance procedure.

(CBA at 12; CP 5)(emphasis added).

The two methods had different deadlines. To request the statutory hearing, Mr. Cronin had to file a request within ten days of receiving his notice. RCW 28A.405.210; RCW 28A.405.300. To grieve under the CBA, he had to file a grievance within 20 days of termination. (CBA at 23; CP 16).

Mr. Cronin received his notice while serving a sentence at Geiger. He allegedly could not respond personally in writing, so he passed word to his union representative, Ms. McNair, "to take whatever steps were necessary to represent him and preserve his job since he was not in a position to do so from the confines of

Geiger." (11/13/14 McNair Dec. ¶ 8; CP 74). On January 11, 2012, Ms. McNair requested both a statutory hearing and a grievance "to preserve timelines in both procedures." (1/11/12 McNair Letter; CP 93).

Ms. McNair failed to select one procedure or the other "due to the lack of access to Mr. Cronin." (1/11/12 McNair Letter; CP 93). The District did not accept Ms. McNair's January 11th letter as a notice of appeal. She promised to convey his election by February 10, 2012. "At that time, either this request or the grievance will be withdrawn." (1/11/12 McNair Letter; CP 93). On February 8, 2012, Ms. McNair told the District in an email "that Mr. Cronin has decided to pursue the statutory hearing as described in RCW 28A.405.300 as his election of remedy for the notice of probable cause for discharge." (2/8/12 McNair Email; CP 94).

On January 31, 2012, after the time limits for a statutory hearing had passed, the District stopped paying Mr. Cronin's salary and benefits. Mr. Cronin then filed this action for declaratory judgment.

The Court of Appeals' decision describes the procedural history of Mr. Cronin's case. Since March 2012, the parties have disputed whether Mr. Cronin properly exercised his right to a

statutory hearing. The Court of Appeals has remanded the case for a second time, and the District now respectfully petitions this Court for review to clarify this unsettled area of law.

ARGUMENT

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews the trial court's summary judgment, and the Court of Appeals' reversal, de novo.

VI. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The District's Petition presents five questions of substantial public importance: (1) may a school district refuse to accept an agent's equivocal hearing request for an employee; (2) may a certificated teacher delegate responsibility to a union representative to appeal discharge; (3) absent special authority, may an agent surrender a substantial right possessed by a teacher to select an appeal procedure; (4) does failing to elect the statutory procedures within the 10-day deadline waive the teacher's right to a hearing; and (5) does the Collective Bargaining Agreement require a discharged teacher to select a procedure within the statutory and contractual deadlines? By answering these questions, the Court will give school districts, unions, and teachers valuable guidance on the

requirements for challenging a certificated teacher's discharge and nonrenewal of contract.

A. <u>A School District May Refuse to Accept an Agent's</u> Equivocal Hearing Request.

First, the Court should accept review to address a third party's right to refuse to act on an agent's ambiguous authority. The Court of Appeals' decision undermines the fundamental rule that a third party may refuse an agent's overture made on behalf of a principal. Restatement of Agency (Third) § 6.01. Here, Ms. McNair asserted to have authority to request a hearing on Mr. Cronin's behalf. But the District had several compelling reasons to doubt her authority, including her statement that she lacked access to Mr. Cronin. The District appropriately refused to act on her equivocal request. Because the Court of Appeals eroded the fundamental right of a third party to refuse an agent's request made on behalf of a principal, the Court's review and correction is essential.

B. <u>A Teacher's Statutory Hearing Is an Individual Right</u> That Cannot Be Delegated

Second, the Court should accept review to construe a certificated teacher's statutory right to a hearing. The core presumption in the Court of Appeals' ruling is that a discharged

teacher may delegate his or her right to request a hearing. As the Court stated,

one may appoint an agent for any purpose whatsoever, and this is no less true when the agent assumes to exercise a statutory right than it is in other cases. <u>State ex rel. Hansen v. Schall</u>, 126 Conn. 536, 12 A.2d 767, 769 (1940). An exception lies when the express terms of the statute or necessary effect of the act requires the act to be performed by the person only who is named. <u>State ex rel. Hansen v. Schall</u>, 12 A.2d at 769-70.

Cronin, slip op. at 20 (Appendix A-20). The Court relied on a 1940 Connecticut opinion because there is no Washington precedent on point.

The Court's presumption is flawed for two reasons. First, a statutory appeal from discharge or non-renewal is a personal, non-delegable right. Under the Restatement of Agency (Third) § 3.04(3), "if performance of an act is not delegable, its performance by an agent does not constitute performance by the principal." 3 Am. Jur. 2d Agency § 9 (same). The right to appeal belonged only to Mr. Cronin, not the union or his union representative. And only Mr. Cronin could exercise his right to appeal by filing a written request for a statutory hearing.

The relevant statutes define who may request a hearing: "every such *employee* notified". RCW 28A.405.210; RCW

28A.405.300 (emphasis added). The statutes do not authorize an employee's designee to make the request, unlike other similar provisions for statutory hearings that do allow a designee. See RCW 28A.405.310(4) ("the employee or employee's designee shall ... appoint one nominee"). Furthermore, the statutory hearing exists as due process for terminating a public employee's individual contract right. This is a property right the employee alone possesses.

The employee's right to enforce his or her individual employment agreement is not the same as a union's right to enforce a collective bargaining agreement. A union is not a party to the individual employment agreement. Rights under an individual employment agreement are therefore not delegable to a union. Taylor v. Fee, 233 F.2d 251, 255 (7th Cir. 1956) aff'd sub nom; State of Cal. v. Taylor, 353 U.S. 553, 77 S. Ct. 1037, 1 L. Ed. 2d 1034 (1957) ("rights of employees are personal to them and distinct from the rights of the brotherhood and its members").

The Court of Appeals rejected this principle based on a faulty analogy.

Notice that the statute [RCW 28A.405.300] requires notice on the employee "personally" of the notice of discharge from the school district. The statute, however, does not demand that the teacher

"personally" prepare, sign, or file the demand for a hearing.

Cronin, slip op. at 20-21. Yet the statute allows the District to use alternative means for service – "by certified or registered mail, or by leaving a copy of the notice at the house of his or her usual abode with some person of suitable age and discretion then resident therein." RCW 28A.405.210; RCW 28A.405.300. In contrast, the Legislature did not authorize anyone other than the employee to file a request for hearing.

Additionally, the Connecticut Supreme Court's decision in State ex rel. Hansen v. Schall, 126 Conn. 536, 12 A.2d 767 (1940) is not persuasive authority. That case involved a taxpayer's request to examine the public records of West Haven, Connecticut. In 1940, state law permitted a resident to review the town's "books, papers and documents" held by the town clerk. Hansen, 12 A.2d at 768. Mr. Schall wanted his agent, Murphy and Company, to do the review.

The Connecticut Supreme Court held that this right was delegable to an agent. "[I]n the absence of anything requiring a personal execution of this right, while significance does attach to the place of residence of the plaintiff, it does not to that of his agent." Hansen, 12 A.2d at 770. The Court distinguished circumstances

where only the principal may make a request. "In order to make out that a right conferred by statute is to be exercised personally, and not by an agent, you must find something in the act, either by way of express enactment or necessary implication, which limits the common law right of any person who is sui juris to appoint an agent to act on his behalf." Hansen, 12 A.2d at 770.

Unlike reviewing public documents, challenging discharge from employment is a personal, non-delegable right. The necessary consequence of allowing others to request a hearing is that an employee may not want one. For example, a union has an institutional incentive to appeal every alleged procedural error in an employee's termination. But an employee would waive a hearing if it would complicate a pending criminal investigation or, perhaps, a child custody matter. Likewise, allowing a union representative to select the procedure subjects the District to two conflicting instructions — one by union representative and a simultaneous but different one by the employee. Only the employee should make the decision.

The second flaw is that the CBA did not permit delegation.

Returning to Section E of the Agreement, the parties distinguished between the employee – the certificated teacher – and his or her

Association representative. (CBA at 12; CP 5). For example, when the District conducts a preliminary examination, the teacher in question has a right to know the allegations.

When an allegation is made against an employee, the District shall conduct a preliminary investigation and inform the employee that an allegation has been made. The employee has a right to a meeting regarding the allegation(s). The employee further has the right, upon request, to have an Association representative present.

(CBA at 12; CP 5) (emphasis added).

The Agreement does not have a similar provision allowing the employee to delegate the choice of discipline procedures to a representative. Only "the employee shall select the statutory procedures or grievance procedure." Id. The Court of Appeals amended the Agreement by implication, authorizing Mr. Cronin to let his union representative make the selection to protect his rights. That unilateral amendment by the Court of Appeals deprived the parties to the Agreement (one of which is not even a party to this lawsuit) of the benefit of bargaining.

C. <u>Absent Special Authority, a Representative Cannot Surrender a Teacher's Substantial Right.</u>

Third, the Court should accept review to address the authority a union representative must have to surrender a teacher's

substantial rights. Assuming the selection of an appeal procedure can be delegated, the Court of Appeals erred in believing Ms. McNair had special authority to surrender a right on Mr. Cronin's behalf. Mr. Cronin's statement "to take whatever action Ms. McNair felt necessary" contained no special grant of authority to select one procedure and thus surrender the other. (11/14/14 Cronin Dec. ¶ 15; CP 35).

If an agent surrenders a principal's substantial right without special authority, the principal will have unknowingly and unintentionally waived a substantial right. See Verbeek Properties, LLC v. GreenCo Environmental, Inc., 159 Wn. App. 82, 87, 246 P.3d 205 (2010) (waiver of the right to arbitrate must be knowing and intentional); see also Graves v. P.J. Taggares Co., 94 Wn.2d 298, 303, 616 P.2d 1223 (1980) (attorney could not surrender a client's right to a trial without special authority). The Court of Appeals erred in assuming that Ms. McNair, as a general agent, had "unlimited power" to bind Mr. Cronin. Cronin, slip. op. at 25 (Appendix A-20). Ms. McNair did not receive express instructions to select the statutory hearing over the grievance procedure, or vice versa. She therefore lacked the necessary authority to make the decision.

Not only did Ms. McNair lack special authority, she also lacked actual authority. An agent does not have actual authority if she does not believe that the principal's grant of authority encompassed a certain act. Restatement of Agency (Third) § 2.02 cmt. e; see e.g., 1-800 Contacts, Inc. v. Lens.Com, Inc., 722 F.3d 1229, 1251-1252 (10th Cir. 2013). Although she may have been Mr. Cronin's general agent, Ms. McNair did not believe she had actual authority to select one procedure over the other -- as evidenced by her equivocal letter.

D. <u>A Teacher Waives His Right to a Statutory Hearing</u> Procedure By Failing To Elect It Within Ten Days

Fourth, the Court should accept review to enforce the Legislature's deadline for starting the statutory hearing process. The Court of Appeals permitted Ms. McNair to extend Mr. Cronin's appeal deadline by 23 days. Under RCW 28A.405.210 and .300, a certificated teacher must opt in to the statutory process within ten days of receiving notice of probable cause. No dispute exists that Ms. McNair finally chose the statutory hearing process on February 8, 2012, 33 days after Mr. Cronin received his notice. The Court of Appeals found this outcome acceptable.

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