I. INTRODUCTION 

This case involves a unique set of facts and circumstances 

surrounding a teacher's timely request for a statutory hearing arising out 

of his termination, a request that was ignored by the school district. After 

over 4.5 years of litigation and in a second unpublished decision, the Court 

of Appeals, Division III, agreed with the teacher and remanded this matter 

back for a statutory hearing on the merits of his termination. 

Plaintiff/Appellant, Michael F. Cronin (hereinafter "Cronin") had 

been employed as a teacher at Central Valley School District (hereinafter 

"District") for seven years. (CP 31 ). He was terminated while incarcerated 

ten days shy of his release from an 80 day jail sentence for a DUI charge 

unrelated to his teaching activities. (CP 33). Since by statute, he only had a 

short ten day window to appeal and serve the Superintendent with a 

request for statutory hearing, he immediately contacted his friend Teresa 

Anderson. (CP 97). He told her to contact his union representative, Sally 

McNair, (hereinafter "McNair") and have her take whatever action was 

necessary to preserve his job. (!d.) McNair had represented Cronin after 

the District placed him on administrative leave and during his 

incarceration. (CP 33-34; 73). There were meetings between McNair, 

Cronin and the District while he was incarcerated, to negotiate Cronin's 

return to work in early January 2012, after he was released from jail. (/d.). 
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McNair thereupon authored and timely served a request for 

statutory hearing on the Superintendent before the ten days elapsed. (CP 

34-35; 74-76; 93). The District ignored and refused to acknowledge 

McNair's request for statutory hearing, claiming that she was not an 

employee of the District and had no authority to request a hearing on 

Cronin's behalf. (CP I-2; 76; 95). Cronin then filed a Declaratory 

Judgment action to force the District to proceed to a statutory hearing and 

to pay his wages and benefits pending the outcome of a hearing on the 

merits. (CP 29-30; 42-60). 

On cross motions for Summary Judgment, the trial court granted 

the District's motion on the basis that the Court lacked jurisdiction 

because Cronin failed to timely file his Declaratory Judgment action under 

RCW 28A.645.0I 0. Cronin appealed to Division III, and the trial court 

decision was reversed in a March I3, 20 I4 unpublished opinion. (App. I). 

The case was remanded back to the trial court for a determination of the 

merits of Cronin's Declaratory Judgment action. (CP 20-28). 

The District's Motion for Reconsideration by Division III was 

denied on April I 0, 20 I4. Its Petition for Discretionary Review with this 

court was denied on August 6, 20 I4. 

Upon remand to the trial court, the parties once again filed cross

motions for Summary Judgment. (CP 29-30; I 09-II 0). The trial court 
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granted Cronin's motion in part, holding that as his union representative, 

McNair had the capacity and authority to file an appeal and request a 

statutory hearing on Cronin's behalf with the District Superintendent. The 

trial court granted the District's motion finding that although McNair 

could properly appeal the termination on Cronin's behalf, she failed to 

timely elect a remedy (grievance or statutory hearing) and thereupon 

dismissed his case by Order dated December 19, 2014. (!d.). 

On April 14, 2016, Division III by unpublished opinion (App. 2) 

reversed the trial court and remanded the matter for a statutory hearing. 

The court found that as his agent, McNair had authority to file a request 

for statutory hearing with the District Superintendent. It also found that 

she did not fail to select a remedy by first timely serving his request for 

statutory hearing, followed by conferring with Cronin on whether he 

wished to proceed under the Collective Bargaining Agreement (hereinafter 

"CBA") grievance process. 

The District filed a Motion to Publish the Division III decision. 

The motion was denied on June 2, 2015. The District's second Petition 

For Discretionary Review followed to this Court. 

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

The District misstates the issues it has raised in this case. 
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"A. . .. Did the Court of Appeals err by requiring the 
District to accept an agent's hearing request, regardless of the agent's 
expressed uncertainty about her authority to make it?" (Pet. Rev. 2-3) 

Sally McNair expressed no uncertainty about her authority. She 

was Cronin's union representative and represented him before the District 

in meetings while he was incarcerated. She expressed no uncertainty about 

her authority when filing the request for statutory hearing upon the District 

Superintendent. If anything, it was the District's uncertainty which arose 

out of its mistaken belief that "only the employee can file a request for 

hearing". McNair indicated that as union representative, she can and does 

appeal matters on behalfofmembers and did so in Cronin's case. (CP 74-

75). Aimee Iverson, General Counsel for the Washington Education 

Association echoed the same position. ( CP I 05-1 06). 

"B. ... Do the hearing statutes for non-renewal (RCW 
28A.405.210) and discharge (RCW 28A.405.300) permit this 
delegation?" (Pet. Rev. 3) 

Again, neither cited statute prohibits an agent from requesting a 

statutory hearing on behalf of a teacher. The District ignores a multitude of 

situations where an agent may have to quickly respond within ten days of 

the District's notification of termination or non-renewal when a teacher is 

incapacitated or otherwise unavailable. The District presupposes that it is 

the employee's responsibility to file a written request for a statutory 

hearing, but it is clear that the union can and does undertake such action 
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on behalf of its members. (CP 74 -75; 105- 106). Even the Supreme Court 

rules of practice only allow "a party" to seek discretionary review of a 

decision of a court of appeals (RAP 13.3(a)) but attorneys routinely file 

requests for discretionary review on behalf of clients. RAP 5.1 requires 

that "a party" file a Notice of Appeal to a trial court decision" with the 

Court of Appeals. (RAP 5.l(a)). Attorneys routinely initiate a Notice of 

Appeal seeking review of a trial court decision. The District's first request 

for discretionary review and this one were not signed by the District. They 

were signed by their "agent/representatives" (attorneys) who were 

authorized to file the Petitions. A teacher should have no less right to have 

his or her representative sign when faced with a shortened timeline and 

circumstances (created by the District when it served him in jail) that 

make a personal effort to appeal unavailable. 

"C. . .. Did the Court of Appeals err by holding that Ms. 
McNair had special authority to surrender a substantial right? (Pet. 
Rev. 3) 

The District misstates this issue. The Court of Appeals did not hold 

that McNair had special authority to surrender a substantial right. The 

court noted that "McNair did not concede any absence of authority." App. 

2 at 24. In fact, "Cronin bequeathed Sally McNair unlimited power to 

protect his employment rights". ld, at 25. Cronin did not question 

McNair's authority to act on his behalf. Id And no matter what the District 
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wants to read into McNair's January 11 letter, "McNair did not expressly 

declare that she lacked authority to exercise the choice." Id at 23. There 

was no special authority that was necessary to confer on McNair in order 

for her to act. She was given authority to preserve his job and take 

whatever action necessary to accomplish that. (CP 74). 

"D. . .. Did the Court of Appeals err by discern[ing) no 
reason why Sally McNair could not demand both processes until a 
later date." (App. 2 at 23). 

The District claims that McNair initially opted for both the 

statutory hearing and grievance procedure, which is not true. (Pet. Rev. at 

4). McNair timely requested a statutory hearing. She never filed a 

grievance. The District has never argued that the request for statutory 

hearing was untimely. What the District claims is that McNair had no 

authority to act on Cronin's behalf and nullified her perfected request for a 

statutory hearing when she noted in her January 11, 2012, letter that she 

may file a grievance. As the Court of Appeals pointed out, the language of 

the CBA does not establish a time for selection of either the statutory 

hearing or grievance process. App. 2 at 23. The statute requires a request 

for statutory hearing to be filed within ten days of termination. RCW 

28.A.405.210; 300. Ifthat is not done, then the only remedy available to 

Cronin would be the grievance procedure. The parties through the CBA 

simply agreed that one or the other could be selected but not both. McNair 
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timely perfected Cronin's request for a statutory hearing and then sought 

to evaluate which procedure her member wished to use. She never did file 

a grievance, so what was left was her timely request for a statutory 

hearing. (CP 260). There is no prejudice to the District under the 

circumstances. At a minimum the District would have had to wait 30 days 

to see if a grievance was filed. When one wasn't, the District knew that the 

matter would proceed via statutory hearing. 

There is nothing in the CBA or statute that expressly prevents a 

teacher from initially requesting both a statutory hearing and a grievance. 

Oak Harbor Education Assn. v. Oak Harbor School Dist., 162 Wn. App. 

254, 259 P.3d 274 (2011). 

E. The District raises the issue as to whether or not Cronin's 
"choice of the statutory hearing was untimely?" (Dist. Pet. 4) 

The District claims that Cronin did not "commit to pursuing a 

statutory hearing" until February 8, 20 12, 3 3 days after receiving notice. 

ld A "commitment" to pursue a statutory hearing is not a requirement 

under the statute. The District seeks to impose on a teacher an additional 

legal step not otherwise required before a matter may proceed to a hearing. 

It claims that first, the teacher must timely file a request for statutory 

hearing. Then the teacher must "commit" to that remedy. The District 

argues an obligation ("commitment") which is not required by law. 

Whether the teacher commits to a statutory hearing or the grievance 
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procedure has no bearing on whether either was timely. Cronin does not 

have the added legal obligation of notifying the District of his 

"commitment" to pursue the statutory hearing. 

Ill. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Before he was terminated, Cronin had been a successful high 

school teacher with Central Valley School District. (11/14114 Cronin 

Decl., Para. 2; CP 31 ). There was no evidence that he used alcohol while at 

work. Cronin's classroom performance was never an issue. (CP 31; 73). 

Although he had an alcohol problem outside of school, he was never under 

the influence while at school or performing his teaching duties. (CP 31-33; 

73). 

On September 30, 2011, Cronin voluntarily entered into an alcohol 

treatment program with knowledge and notice to the District. (CP 32-33). 

After discharge from treatment, he reported to Geiger Correctional Facility 

on October 27, 2011. He was to serve out the remaining 80 days of his 120 

day sentence after having been giving credit for the 30 days he spent in 

treatment. (CP 33). While at Geiger he had work release privileges and 

could have worked if the District had requested. (CP 33; 73). 

In November and December 2011 the District, Cronin and McNair 

had meetings to negotiate Cronin's return to work upon release from 

Geiger. (CP 33-34; 73). The District refused and gave Cronin an 
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ultimatum to either resign or be terminated. (CP 34). He informed the 

District that he would not resign. (!d.) 

On January 6, 2012, ten days before his release and while still 

incarcerated, the District terminated Cronin by certified letter. (CP 34; 40-

41 ). Since he was still incarcerated, he contacted his friend Theresa 

Anderson and asked her to contact his union representative to appeal the 

termination and take whatever action was necessary to preserve his job. 

(CP 97). Ms. Anderson did so and on January 11,2012, within the 10 day 

window, McNair timely filed the request for statutory hearing with the 

Superintendent of Central Valley School District. (CP 34-35; 74-76; 93). 

The District's notice of probable cause to Cronin did not identify 

any specifics. (CP 91-92) The specifics are generally left for discovery 

between the parties during the statutory hearing process. However, the 

District's allegations that "you have not been available for work and failed 

to notify the District of that fact" and "you continue to be unavailable for 

work" were patently untrue. The District was well aware that Cronin had 

work release privileges through its meetings with him after placing him on 

administrative leave. He was, in fact, available to work and the District 

was well aware of that fact. (CP 33; 73) In this entire litigation, the District 

has never asserted facts to the contrary. 
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The fact remains that the District ignored McNair's request for 

statutory hearing. And although McNair identified herself to the District as 

Cronin's nominee for purposes of selecting a hearing officer as required 

by RCW 28A.405.31 0, the District ignored that request as well. (CP 76; 

93). 

The District then ignored its statutory mandate to identify a 

nominee for purposes of selecting a hearing officer, RCW 28A.405.31 0. 

(!d.) On February 21,2012, Cronin's counsel wrote the District's counsel 

about why Cronin's pay and benefits had been stopped after a timely 

request for statutory hearing. (CP 98-1 00; 101) Due process required 

continued payment of wages and benefits pending a decision on the merits 

of the District's termination. The District's counsel responded that he 

would check into the matter and get back to the undersigned as soon as 

possible. (CP 1 02) The District's counsel never responded to the 

undersigned. (CP 99). 

On February 28, 2012, McNair received a letter from the District 

Superintendent stating that since she was not the employee who received 

the notice, her request for statutory hearing "did not constitute a valid 

appeal." (CP 95). And since Cronin "did not timely appeal", he waived his 

right to a statutory hearing and was deemed terminated. (!d). 
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IV. WHY THE DISTRICT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW 
SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED. 

The District fails to recognize and consider the due process rights 

available to a teacher. It ignored Cronin and argued that the trial court had 

no jurisdiction because Cronin failed to file a lawsuit to force the District 

to name a nominee to select a hearing officer. The trial court was 

convinced but the Court of Appeals was not. (App. 1 ). On remand, the trial 

court found that McNair was an agent acting for and on behalf of Cronin 

and had authority to appeal his termination, but dismissed Cronin's case 

because of the mistaken belief that McNair was equivocal and did not 

select a remedy. (CP 311 ). Although the trial court was convinced, 

Division III, again, was not. (App. 2). 

The District wrongfully and deliberately ignored the teacher's 

request for a statutory hearing under the guise that it subjectively decided 

the appeal was improperly authored by someone other than to whom the 

notice was delivered and McNair had no authority act. That position has 

soundly been rejected by both the trial court and the Court of Appeals. (CP 

311; App. 2 at 17-20). 

The decision of the Court of Appeals is consistent with existing 

law, good practice and common sense. This is not an unsettled area of law. 

A request for statutory hearing has to be made within ten days or a 
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teacher's termination is final and binding. RCW 28A.405.21 0; 300. 

McNair's request was not equivocal. She perfected the request with 

service on the superintendent within the I 0 days required by statute. (!d.) 

The second option McNair considered was a grievance that was never 

perfected because it was never filed. (CP 260-261 ). The Court of Appeals 

recognized that perfecting one option and not pursuing the other does not 

negate the first option. App. 2 at 23-24 

McNair was acting with direct and express authority, all of which 

acts were ratified by Cronin in an attempt to preserve his job. (CP 34-35) 

No special authority was necessary when general authority was granted 

under the circumstances. The District wants the court to view this as an all 

or nothing proposition. If the teacher's signature is not on the request for 

hearing, then the District's position is that the teacher is foreclosed from 

ever appealing a termination. That flies in the face of reason and common 

sense considering the limited time frame a teacher has to respond and the 

teacher's availability to personally do so. 

The CBA was negotiated at arm's length. Ifthe District desired 

greater specificity, procedures or deadlines to select a grievance over a 

statutory hearing, it could have negotiated that. But the District now wants

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